
Mark Saccoccio  
Town Clerk  

  01525 631920 
      info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 

 

 
Council Chamber, The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, Bedfordshire, LU7 1HD 

Friday, 25 February 2022 
 
To:  Members of the Grounds & Environmental Committee (Councillors R Berry, 
S Jones, T Morris, C Palmer, R Yates, B Spurr, V Harvey, P Carberry, A Gray and 
P Snelling) 
(Copies to all Town Councillors for information) 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of Grounds & Environmental 
Committee to be held on Monday, 7 March 2022 commencing at 7.30 pm in the 
Council Chamber, The White House, Hockliffe Street, 
Leighton Buzzard, Bedfordshire, LU7 1HD.  

 
M Saccoccio  
Town Clerk 

AGENDA 
 
1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

 Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of the 
Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the meeting. 
Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to the Town 
Clerk. 
 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

 (i) Under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 26-37 and Schedule 4) and in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Members are required to 
declare any interests which are not currently entered in the Member’s 
Register of Interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it.  

 
(ii) Should any Member have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in an item on the 

agenda, the Member may not participate in consideration of that item 
unless a Dispensation has first been requested (in writing) and granted by 
the Council (see Dispensation Procedure).  

 

3.   QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  

 

 To receive questions and statements from members of the public in respect of 
any item of business included in the agenda, as provided for in Standing Order 
No.s 3(e)(f)(g) 3(h). 
 

THIS MEETING MAY 
BE RECORDED * 

Public Document Pack

mailto:info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/


GROUNDS & ENVIRONMENTAL COMMITTEE Monday, 7 March 2022 
 

 

 

4.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 8) 

 

 (a) To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the Committee 
meeting held on 6th December 2021 (attached) in accordance with 
Standing Order 12. 

(b) To receive information updates on matters arising from the previous 
meeting (if appropriate). 

 

5.   APPROVED DECISIONS (Pages 9 - 10) 

 

 To receive and formally note the decisions taken since the previous discussion 
meeting by delegation to the Town Clerk with email approval from a majority of 
Council members in accordance with Standing Order 15 (c) (vii) (attached).  
 

6.   COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN (Pages 11 - 20) 

 

 (a) To receive and consider the Committee Work Plan for 2021-2022 
(attached). 

 
(b) To receive and consider the draft Committee Work Plan for 2022-2023  
 
(c) Further to the resolution made by Council on 29 November 2021, to 

receive a report and discussion document regarding current Five Year 
Plan objectives and to consider the recommendations contained therein.   

 
 

7.   FACILITIES AND BOOKINGS (Pages 21 - 26) 

 

 (a) To receive and note a summary report regarding bookings of Town 
Council venues. 

 
(b) To receive a verbal update in respect of Leighton Town Boxing Club.  
 
(c) To receive a verbal update in respect of the facilities accessibility audits 

undertaken in late 2021 and next steps.  
 
 

8.   NINE MONTH BUDGET MONITORING REPORT (Pages 27 - 30) 

 

 To receive a nine-month budget monitoring report for the period April-
December 2021 (attached). 
 
 

9.   OUZEL VALLEY PARK STEERING GROUP UPDATE (Pages 31 - 34) 

 

 To receive the minutes from the 9 December meeting an receive a verbal 
update of the meeting held 2 March 2022 (attached).  
 

10.   HM QUEEN ELIZABETH II PLATINUM JUBILEE CELEBRATIONS  



GROUNDS & ENVIRONMENTAL COMMITTEE Monday, 7 March 2022 
 

 

 

 

 To receive a verbal update regarding the Platinum Jubilee celebrations. 
 

11.   PARSON'S CLOSE RECREATION GROUND INCLUSIVE PLAY AREA 

UPDATE  

 

 To receive a verbal update on the play area refurbishment project.   
 

12.   PLAY AREA PROGRAMME  

 

 To receive and consider an update report of the wider play area improvement 
and safer surfacing replacement programmes (to follow). 
 

13.   COMMUNITY FORUM YOUTH SURVEY (Pages 35 - 46) 

 

 To receive the results of the Community Forum Youth Survey and to consider 
undertaking more in-depth surveying of young people's needs and ideas about 
park-based provision (attached). 
 

14.   REVIEW OF WASTE MANAGEMENT CONTRACT  

 

 To receive a verbal update on the Council’s waste management contract. 
 

15.   THE WHITE HOUSE ROUNDABOUT (Pages 47 - 48) 

 

 To receive a paper produce by The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom 
(attached).  
 
 

16.   EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  

 

 The Committee may consider it appropriate to consider the following resolution 
should they consider that any discussion would be prejudicial to the public 
interests: that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 
1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature of 
the business about to be transacted which involves the likely disclosure 
of exempt information. The public and press to withdraw from the 
meeting during consideration of detailed discussion regarding:    
 

17.   PARSON'S CLOSE RECREATION GROUND CONCESSIONS  

 

 To receive a report on the provision of the 2022 concessions in Parson's Close 
Recreation Ground and consider the recommendations therein (to follow). 
 

* Phones and other equipment may be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog from this meeting by an individual Council member, 
officer or member of the public.  No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves to go into 
exempt session.  The use of images or recordings arising from this is not within the Council’s control. 



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 55 

LEIGHTON–LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES OF GROUNDS & ENVIRONMENTAL COMMITTEE 
 

MONDAY, 6 DECEMBER 2021 AT 7.30 PM 
 

Present:   Councillors R Berry (Chair) 
S Jones (Vice-Chair) 
T Morris 
C Palmer 
V Harvey 
P Carberry 
P Snelling 
R Goodchild 
J Silverstone 

 
Also in attendance: M Saccoccio, Town Clerk 

I Haynes, Head of Grounds and Environmental 
Services 
S Sandiford, Deputy Town Clerk 
M Jahn, Committee Officer 

  
 
Members of the public: 2 
Members of the press 0 

 
139/GE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Gray (substituted by 

Councillor Goodchild), Councillor Spurr (substituted by Councillor 
Silverstone) and Councillor Yates. 
 

140/GE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 Councillor V Harvey declared a personal interest as a member of South 
Bedfordshire Friends of the Earth and the Leighton Buzzard Society. 
 
Councillor C Palmer declared a personal interest as a member of the Friends 
of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom. 
 
No pecuniary interests were declared.  
 

141/GE QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 

 A member of the Croquet Club spoke to thank the committee for the recent 
improvements and highlight how the club was a well-used popular facility 
across the town with an increasing membership, clubhouse and three lawns 
available for use.  The lawns were in need of re-laying to provide an 
improved playing surface, and the club requested assistance from the town 
council in achieving this.   The Head of Grounds and Environmental Services 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Grounds & Environmental Committee 
Meeting 

Monday, 6 December 2021 

 

 

Page 56 

confirmed he had spoken to consultants regarding this and would obtain 
costed proposals for consideration at a future date. 
 

142/GE MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

 (a) The Committee received the draft minutes of the Grounds and 
Environmental Services Committee meeting held on 6 September 2021. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Grounds and Environmental 
Services Committee meeting held on 6 September be approved as a 
correct record and were signed accordingly.  
 
(b) Minute reference 122/GE (Minutes of the Previous Meeting) – there 
was no update as yet regarding the fence at the rear of the Linslade 
Memorial Playing field. Still, a meeting had been set up with a fencing 
contractor after the first estimate of costs had been rejected by the Canal & 
River Trust. 
   
Minute reference 131/GE (Multi-Use Games Area) confirmed that the 
goalposts would be taken down and reinstated at the eastern side of the 
park. 
 
Minute reference 134/GE (Allotments Update) – there had been no 
correspondence received from Central Bedfordshire Council regarding the 
transfer of any assets, including the allotments on the eastern development.   
          

143/GE COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORKPLAN 
 

 The Committee received and considered the Committee Work Plan for 2021-
2022.   
 
A question was raised to ask whether an update could be given at the next 
meeting regarding waste recycling after the new contract was awarded in 
October 2019.  It was confirmed this could be presented at the March 
meeting. 
 
It was noted that the recycling bins in Parson's Close would be discussed at 
the March meeting. 
 
A further question was raised regarding the computerisation of the cemetery 
records, which showed as ongoing but unlikely it would ever be completed.  
The Head of Grounds and Environmental Services confirmed that not all the 
historical documents were available, and access to the computer system to 
update these records would prove difficult for volunteers as only one person 
could access it at any one time.                                                                                                 
 
RESOLVED to note the Committee Objectives and Work Plan. 
 

144/GE SIX MONTH BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 

Page 2



Grounds & Environmental Committee 
Meeting 

Monday, 6 December 2021 

 

 

Page 57 

 The Committee received a six-month budget monitoring report for the period 
April – September 2021. 
 
Utility use was questioned at Parson's Close. Still, it was confirmed this 
would balance out as most billing was estimated and paid by direct debit 
enabling any credit to be returned. 
 
Overall the income should be on par with the budget predictions by the end 
of the year. 
 
RESOLVED to note the report. 
 

145/GE PARSON'S CLOSE RECREATION GROUND 
 

 The Committee received a verbal update on the play area refurbishment 
project.  It was confirmed the loan application would be resubmitted this 
week.  Additional costs had been incurred by the delay in the planning 
application being approved. To keep the project's total cost the same, 
officers suggested that minor amendments to the plans be made.  This 
would include some parts of the equipment being amended or shelved and 
an alteration in the method of resurfacing in the play area. The changes 
would not affect the overall scheme design or play value but would ensure 
the project could be achieved within the budget set by Council.  
 
RESOLVED to note the information and the minor amendments to the 
scheme to ensure the project could be delivered within budget.  
 

146/GE OUZEL VALLEY PARK STEERING GROUP UPDATE 
 

 The Committee received the minutes of the Ouzel Valley Park Steering 
Group held on 2 September 2021. 
 
The Committee were informed the Canal & River Trust had now agreed to 
carry out an upgrade on the towpath, between south of Leighton Bridge and 
north from Leighton Lock. The timescale would be May to July 2022, with the 
closure of the towpath in sections so the public could still have access to the 
canal.  A request had been made to the Canal & River Trust to avoid the 
closure of the towpath around Tiddenfoot when the Canal Festival would be 
taking place at the end of July 2022.   
 
It was also noted that Councillor Harvey and Jon Balaam of the Greensand 
Trust had set up a meeting with the Head of External Affairs on 16 
December regarding the discharge of sewerage into the River Ouzel which 
had caused a decline in wildlife along the river. 
 
RESOLVED to receive the minutes of Ouzel Valley Park Steering Group 
2 September 2021. 
 

147/GE LEIGHTON TOWN BOXING CLUB UPDATE 

Page 3



Grounds & Environmental Committee 
Meeting 

Monday, 6 December 2021 

 

 

Page 58 

 
 The Committee received a verbal update from a representative of the Boxing 

Club regarding club use of Pages Park Pavilion.   
 
A question was raised as to whether the 50% discount given for one day of 
their hire per week could be extended to two days.  This was outside the 
scope of the fees and charges agreed by the Committee, but consideration 
could be given to the request. 
 
No alternative, permanent premises had been found at present, with Central 
Bedfordshire Assets Team unable to offer a venue and the Boxing Club 
unable to source any suitable premises.    
 
Members of the Committee were informed that the Boxing Club Committee 
meeting would be held on the 12 January 2022, and councillors would be 
welcome to this meeting. Officers and members were also invited to attend a 
club night to see how the club runs. 
 
RESOLVED to note the information 
 

148/GE 2022-2023 DRAFT COMMITTEE REVENUE BUDGET 
 

 The Committee received and considered the draft Committee budget for  
2022-2023.   
 
Members were informed the next ten years would be complicated, given the 
recent Council resolution to achieve a net carbon neutral status by 2030 and 
the lack of certainty regarding the open spaces, play areas, allotments and 
other community facilities on the development to the east of Leighton-
Linslade.  There was potential for a significant increase in workload for 
Grounds Team, so the option of recruiting more staff or outsourcing certain 
areas of the work might need to be considered.  A planned approach would 
be needed to become net carbon neutral with the purchase of electric 
equipment, increased tree and shrub planting and maintenance, and the 
usual jobs carried out by the Grounds Team. 
 
On being put to a vote, it was agreed to recommend approval of the draft 
budget to Policy & Finance Committee (7 in favour, 1 against and 1 
abstention). 
 
RECOMMENDED to the Policy and Finance Committee to approve the 
proposed budget for Grounds and Environmental Services for the 
financial year 2022-2023. 
 

149/GE CEMETERY UPDATE 
 

 The Committee received an update report on the cemetery service.  The 
town council's burial capacity should continue to be classed as "problematic", 
with some virgin space remaining but insufficient to meet the demand for the 

Page 4



Grounds & Environmental Committee 
Meeting 

Monday, 6 December 2021 

 

 

Page 59 

next twenty years.  In order for the Town Council to remain a burial authority, 
additional capacity would be required.  The land likely to come forward as 
part of the land east development would be limited in size, and its future 
management was uncertain. The Committee agreed that Central 
Bedfordshire Council should keep to their commitment to assist the Town 
Council in securing burial land. 
 
RESOLVED to note the report. 
 

150/GE PAVILION HIRE REVIEW OF FEES AND CHARGES FROM 1 APRIL 2022 
 

 The Committee received a report in respect of the fees and charges for 
Pavilion hire. Although bookings had increased significantly in the second 
half of 2022, there remained a lack of certainty about the pandemic and its 
continuing impact. It was suggested that no increase be made to the 
previously agreed fee structure in view of this.  
 
RESOLVED that no change be made to the existing fees and charges 
for pavilion hire for the financial year 1 April 2022 – 31 March 2023. 
 

151/GE INSTALLATION OF INTERPRETATION PANELS IN THE PARKS AND 
OPEN SPACES 
 

 The Committee received a report regarding the installation of interpretation 
panels in Linslade Memorial Playing Field and considered the 
recommendations therein. The Committee approved the proposed design 
and colours and noted that the exact wording was still to be finalised.  
  
RESOLVED:  
 
(a) to note the report. 
(b) to endorse that £6,374.00 to be taken from budget line 9024/950 
(with available funds of £28,197) to fund the delivery and installation. 
 

152/GE ROTARY FIREWORK DISPLAY 
 

 The Committee received a verbal update regarding the annual bonfire event 
in the town.  The Rotary Club of Leighton-Linslade had agreed not to hold 
the event in 2020 and 2021 as a result of the pandemic and had expressed 
an intention not to organise this event in future years due to the financial 
risks involved.  The Committee agreed that if another organisation took over 
the running of the display, it would not be automatically assumed the Town 
Council would underwrite any future displays. 
 
RESOLVED to note the information. 
 

153/GE HM QUEEN ELIZABETH II PLATINUM JUBILEE CELEBRATIONS 
 

 The Committee received a report to consider the funding and endorse that 

Page 5



Grounds & Environmental Committee 
Meeting 

Monday, 6 December 2021 

 

 

Page 60 

the Grounds and Environmental Services lead on the delivery of the 
Platinum Jubilee Celebrations, including a parade, lighting a beacon, and 
augmented reality tree planting and firework display. 
 
RESOLVED  
 
(a) To endorse that, the Grounds and Environmental services would 
lead the delivery of the Platinum Jubilee Celebrations, including a 
parade, lighting a beacon, augmented reality trail tree planting and 
firework display. 
(b)    That up to a maximum of £8,000 be taken from the cost centre 
4110/230 (with an available budget of £54,675) for the purposes of 
delivering the Platinum Jubilee Celebrations. 
 

154/GE 1937 CORONATION SHELTER AND BENCH REPLACEMENT 
 

 The Committee received a report to consider the replacement of the 1937 
Coronation Shelter and bench in Parson's Close Recreation Ground and 
considered the recommendations therein. 
 
A concern was raised whether the shelter would become a focal point for 
anti-social behaviour in the park. The shelter would be narrow with a 
transparent rear panel to prevent this, but the possibility of having CCTV 
focussed on it could also be explored.  The original shelter had been paid for 
by public subscription, and it was suggested this, or crowdfunding could be a 
possible option to contribute to the costs for the new structure.   
 
On being put to a vote, the recommendations were agreed (8 in favour, 1 
against).  
 
RESOLVED 
 
(a) To endorse the funding of a wooden replacement structure for 

£17,323, including delivery and installation, to be funded from 
budget line 9024/950 (available funds of £28,197). 

(b) To purchase wooden benches to be financed from the revenue 
budget 4503/230. 

 
155/GE ALWINS FIELD PLAY AREA REFURBISHMENT 

 
 The Committee received a presentation of the preferred design for the 

refurbishment of Alwins Field Play Area. This was the next scheduled play 
area refurbishment as part of the ongoing programme, to be funded from the 
Future Projects/play area refurbishment earmarked reserve.  
 
RESOLVED to note the information. 
 
 
 

Page 6



Grounds & Environmental Committee 
Meeting 

Monday, 6 December 2021 

 

 

Page 61 

156/GE CLIMATE CHANGE EMERGENCY UPDATE 
 

 The Committee received and considered a report in response to the 
resolution made by Council regarding becoming net carbon neutral by 2030.  
It was proposed that the first steps would be to obtain baseline data on the 
Council's current operations, undertake carbon literacy training, and await 
guidance from the National Association of Local Councils and Central 
Bedfordshire Council. It was noted that CBC's newly adopted Sustainability 
Plan included training of councillors and staff, embedding sustainability in 
project management, council operations, investing in renewable energy 
infrastructure, electric vehicle charging infrastructure and working with the 
broader community, including town and parish councils. 
 
The Committee noted that the town council had already commenced 
communications to the public regarding climate change and how they could 
contribute by making small changes in daily life.  
 
It was proposed a consultant carry out an assessment into the carbon 
footprint of the town council. At the same time, as part of the scheduled tree 
condition survey, an i-Tree Eco assessment could be undertaken.  The 
evidence obtained from these reports would provide essential baseline data 
as a starting point and could also be helpful if applying for grant funding. 
 
On being put to a vote, the recommendations were agreed (8 in favour, 1 
abstention). 
 
RESOLVED:   
 
(a) To note the report. 
(b) To recommend to Policy & Finance Committee approval of the 

new revenue budget line included in the draft budget for 2022-
2023 with respect to the climate change agenda. 

(c) To endorse that quotations be received for a carbon assessment 
of Town Council operations to provide baseline evidence on 
which to take forward the move towards being net carbon neutral 
by 2030. 

(d) To endorse that, an i-Tree Eco assessment be incorporated in 
our latest tree condition survey, with the combined cost of £4,500 
(to be taken from 9024/950) with available funds of £28,197. 

(e) To support the undertaking of carbon literacy training as an 
organisation for both staff and councillors. 

 
It was proposed and seconded that in order to continue the meeting past 
2200 hours, Standing Order 3(x) be suspended until the conclusion of the 
next agenda item (Henry Finch Memorial Fountain). 
 
RESOLVED to suspend Standing Order 3(x) until the conclusion of the 
next agenda item (Henry Finch Memorial Fountain). 
 

Page 7



Grounds & Environmental Committee 
Meeting 

Monday, 6 December 2021 

 

 

Page 62 

157/GE HENRY FINCH MEMORIAL FOUNTAIN 
 

 The Committee received a report to consider the funding of a condition 
survey of the Henry Finch Memorial Fountain in Linslade Recreation Ground 
to allow informed decisions regarding any improvement to be made.   
 
RESOLVED:  
 
(a) To approve the funding of a condition report (£1,872.00), which 
would include detailed feasibility and possible recommendations. 
 
(b) Included in the above costings would be for the appointed 
experts to meet up with Officers and two named Councillors, Councillor 
Harvey and Councillor Palmer, to discuss further the expectations of 
possible adaptions. 
  
The Committee considered a motion by Councillor Palmer for restoration of 
the Henry Finch Memorial Fountain in Linslade Recreation Ground.  It was 
not proposed that the fountain be restored to its original state but that a 
modest restoration take place, including cleaning, re-highlighting the 
inscriptions on the fountain, and restoring the missing lion's head would be 
adequate.  In addition, the provision of flower beds or planters on both sides 
of the path and perhaps some seating could enhance the area.   
 
RESOLVED to support the Motion for restoration of the Henry Finch 
Memorial Fountain in principle, subject to the findings of the condition 
survey. The survey report and costed recommendations to come back 
to the Committee for consideration in due course.  
 

 
 

 
The meeting closed at 10.07 pm.  
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A CORRECT AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON MONDAY, 6 DECEMBER 2021.  
 
 
 
 
Chair                                7 March 2022  

Page 8



RECORD OF DELEGATED DECISIONS 2021 

GROUNDS AND ENVIRONMENTAL COMMITTEE 

 

Date 
requested 

Subject Specific agreed decision Agreed by Cllrs 

13/12/21 Resident Definition 
Amendments 

G&E Committee Members are asked to consider approving 
a temporary amendment to the Town Council's resident 
definition to allow this and possible future interments to take 
place at resident fees. This will only apply when the decision 
to place individuals in Nursing/Res homes is taken away 
from them and family members.   

Approved by 6 councillors  

 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 10



 

 Page 1 of 5 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
GROUNDS & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE  

WORK PLAN 2021-2022 (INCORPORATING OBJECTIVES 2019-2024) 
 

Grounds & Environmental Strategic Objectives for 2019-2024 (from Town Council Five Year Plan 2019-2024) 
 
Overarching Objective 4 – Great Public Open Spaces: to provide great public open spaces with varied opportunities for sport and 
leisure and to exceed expectations in delivering cemetery and allotment services. 
 

Objective 
ref.no. (5 
Yr. Plan) 

Objective Comments 

5 To review waste and recycling operations Completed  
 

7 To increase environmental awareness and incorporate 
the Town Council’s environmental ambitions across all 
facilities and service areas 

Ongoing 

17 To consider delivery of a Town Ranger service Completed 
 

27 To consider ways to support the increase in leisure 
opportunities for older people 

Ongoing – purchase and installation of new table tennis tables complete.  
 
Awaiting recommendations from the Older Persons Task and Finish Group 
 

28 To refurbish Pages Park pavilion to ensure it is safe 
and suitable for continued community and sporting use 
 

Completed  

29 To create a plan for the management, maintenance 
and use of all pavilion buildings 
 

Ongoing – External cleaning contractor appointed, new pavilions supervisor 
in place 

30 To continue to provide excellent play equipment across 
the parish and to expand the range of accessible play 
equipment available 
 

Ongoing – annually received in the March committee meeting, to agree the 
next year’s programme of works 

31 To expand memorial services available at Town 
Council run cemeteries 

Additions to Vandyke Road Cemetery Completed - New memorial 
options installed, and pricing agreed September 2020. Considerations for 
Old Linslade Cemetery under review 
 

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 6



 

 Page 2 of 5 

Enhanced marketing from 1st April 2021 
 

32 To continue to actively seek additional cemetery land 
or where this is not possible, to consider other ways in 
which to expand burial capacity 
 

Central Bedfordshire Council approached – Update to committee in June 
2021 

33 To continue to computerise historic cemetery records Ongoing – Please note it is highly likely that this may never be completed.  
 
Possibilities for volunteers undertaking some work will be reviewed and 
updated to committee for consideration when possible 
 

34 To create a ten-year planned maintenance programme 
for buildings and assets 
 

Ongoing – Previously taken to 2nd December 2019 committee meeting  

35 To continue to seek freehold depot premises 
 

Ongoing -The challenge here is to source a similar facility that includes a 
yard of a comparable size.   
 

36 To continue to aim towards the creation of Friends 
groups 
 

Ongoing – Previously taken to 10th June 2019 committee meeting 

37 To consider options for the restoration of historic 
features and monuments, where practicable and viable 
 

 

38 To seek to maintain and enhance sporting provision Ongoing – Sports and Physical Activity Development Plan currently being 
revised (Sept 2020) 
 

39 To continue to build on the success of the annual 
Anglia in Bloom campaign 
 

Ongoing annually received in the December committee meeting 
 
Campaign Achievements – 2021 (Cancelled), 2020 (Cancelled), 2019 
(Gold) 

40 To install interpretation panels in the parks and open 
spaces 
 

Ongoing – Previously taken to the 9th September 2019 committee meeting 
 
Update to be provided at the June committee meeting 
 

41 To install drinking water fountains in the larger parks 
 

Work on this project has been postponed until 2022/2023   

P
age 12



 

 Page 3 of 5 

42 To install a Changing Places pod facility in Parson’s 
Close Recreation Ground to meet the requirements of 
additional needs 
 

Completed  

43 To consider the development of the playground in 
Parson’s Close Recreation Ground to incorporate an 
adventure play area 
 

Ongoing – Will be completed during 2022 

44 To consider car parking arrangements and capacity at 
town council owned facilities 
 

Linslade Memorial Playing Field – CBC approached regarding enforcement 

45 To continue to invest in facilities for young people 
 

Sept 2020 – purchase of outdoor table tennis tables agreed 

46 To work with key partners on the development of the 
Leighton-Linslade Green Wheel 
 

Endorsed by Council and is now being implemented where possible. £20k 
of funds made available for projects to be completed 

47 To assess the likely future demand for allotments 
 

Update to committee June 2022 

48 To consider possibilities for the restoration of the Henry 
Finch Memorial Fountain in Linslade Recreation 
Ground.  
 

 

 
Wider aspirations as contained in the Partnership Project List may also be subject to periodic review by this Committee, as appropriate.  
 

P
age 13



 

 Page 4 of 5 

MEETING DATES 2021-2022 
 

Meeting Date Regular Updates Fixed Deadline items Other anticipated discussion items 

7 June 2021 
 
MEETING CANCELLED 
DUE TO COVID-19 

 
Parson’s Close Recreation 
Ground – Inclusive play area 
project update 
 
Ouzel Valley Park Steering 
Group Update 
 

  
Cemetery Update (Looking at the effects of the 
pandemic, capacity and the marketing of a self-
funded second mausoleum at Vandyke Road 
Cemetery) moved to December.. 
 
Allotment Update (Looking at the effects of the 
pandemic on waiting lists and updating Members on 
work with the LLAA) moved to September. 
 

6 September 2021 
 
 
  

 
3-month budget monitoring 
 
Parson’s Close Recreation 
Ground – Inclusive play area 
project update 
 
Ouzel Valley Park Steering 
Group Update 
 

 
Review priority projects for inclusion in 
2022-23 budget – The Queen’s Platinum 
Jubilee Beacons 2nd June 2022.  

 
Allotment Update (Looking at the effects of the 
pandemic on waiting lists and updating Members on 
work with the LLAA) 
 
RoSPA annual play area inspection report  
 
Pavilion hire review & fees + charges from 1 April 
2022 moved to December. 
 
Review of Green Flag Award recommendations  
 

6 December 2021 
 
 
 

 
6-month budget monitoring 
 
Parson’s Close Recreation 
Ground – Inclusive play area 
project update 
 
Ouzel Valley Park Steering 
Group Update 
 
 

 
Receipt of draft budget 2022-23 

 
Cemetery Update  
 
Allotment Update moved to September. 
 
Pavilion hire review & fees + charges from 1 April 
2022 
 
To install interpretation panels in the parks and 
open spaces (Objective #40) 
 

7 March 2022 
 
 

 
9-month budget monitoring 
 

  
Review of the play area improvement and safer 
surfacing programme (Objective #30) 

P
age 14



 

 Page 5 of 5 

  Ouzel Valley Park Steering 
Group Update  
 

 
Consider draft committee work plan and priorities for 
2022-23 
 
 
 

 

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 16



 

 Page 1 of 4 

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
GROUNDS & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE  

WORK PLAN 2022-2023 (INCORPORATING OBJECTIVES 2019-2024) 
 

Grounds & Environmental Strategic Objectives for 2019-2024 (from Town Council Five Year Plan 2019-2024) 
 
Overarching Objective 4 – Great Public Open Spaces: to provide great public open spaces with varied opportunities for sport and 
leisure and to exceed expectations in delivering cemetery and allotment services. 
 

Objective 
ref.no. (5 
Yr. Plan) 

Objective Comments 

5 To review waste and recycling operations Completed - New contract awarded October 2019. Reviewed in December 
2020 

7 To increase environmental awareness and incorporate 
the Town Council’s environmental ambitions across all 
facilities and service areas 

Climate change resolution passed September 2021. Council resolution to 
become net carbon neutral by 2030. 
First steps agreed by Committee Dec 2021: 

1) Obtain evaluation of current carbon footprint 
2) Undertake Carbon Literacy training for town and parish councils 

(awaiting launch of toolkit) 

17 To consider delivery of a Town Ranger service Staffing now in place and equipment purchased.  
 

27 To consider ways to support the increase in leisure 
opportunities for older people 

Ongoing – purchase and installation of new table tennis tables complete.  
Awaiting any further recommendations from the Older Persons Task and 
Finish Group 

28 To refurbish Pages Park pavilion to ensure it is safe 
and suitable for continued community and sporting use 

Completed  

29 To create a plan for the management, maintenance 
and use of all pavilion buildings 

Ongoing – External cleaning contractor appointed, new pavilions supervisor 
in place 

30 To continue to provide excellent play equipment across 
the parish and to expand the range of accessible play 
equipment available 

Ongoing – annually received in the March committee meeting, to agree the 
next year’s programme of works 

31 To expand memorial services available at Town 
Council run cemeteries 

Additions to Vandyke Road Cemetery Completed - New memorial 
options installed, and pricing agreed September 2020. Considerations for 
Old Linslade Cemetery under review 
Enhanced marketing from 1st April 2021 
 

P
age 17



 

 Page 2 of 4 

32 To continue to actively seek additional cemetery land 
or where this is not possible, to consider other ways in 
which to expand burial capacity 

Central Bedfordshire Council approached – Update to committee in June 
2021 

33 To continue to computerise historic cemetery records Ongoing – Please note it is highly likely that this may never be completed.  
Possibilities for volunteers undertaking some work will be reviewed and 
updated to committee for consideration when possible 

34 To create a ten-year planned maintenance programme 
for buildings and assets 

Ongoing – Previously taken to 2nd December 2019 committee meeting  

35 To continue to seek freehold depot premises 
 

Ongoing -The challenge here is to source a similar facility that includes a 
yard of a comparable size.   

36 To continue to aim towards the creation of Friends 
groups 

Ongoing – Previously taken to 10th June 2019 committee meeting 

37 To consider options for the restoration of historic 
features and monuments, where practicable and viable 

 

38 To seek to maintain and enhance sporting provision Ongoing – Sports and Physical Activity Development Plan currently being 
revised (Sept 2020) 

39 To continue to build on the success of the annual 
Anglia in Bloom campaign 
 

Ongoing annually received in the December committee meeting 
Campaign Achievements – 2021 (Cancelled), 2020 (Cancelled), 2019 
(Gold) 

40 To install interpretation panels in the parks and open 
spaces 

Ongoing – Previously taken to the 9th September 2019 committee meeting 
Update to be provided at the June committee meeting 

41 To install drinking water fountains in the larger parks Work on this project has been postponed until 2022/2023   

42 To install a Changing Places pod facility in Parson’s 
Close Recreation Ground to meet the requirements of 
additional needs 

Completed – Fully funded through S106 monies from Central Bedfordshire 
Council. 

43 To consider the development of the playground in 
Parson’s Close Recreation Ground to incorporate an 
adventure play area 

Ongoing – Awaiting formal award. 

44 To consider car parking arrangements and capacity at 
town council owned facilities 

Linslade Memorial Playing Field – CBC approached regarding enforcement 

45 To continue to invest in facilities for young people Sept 2020 – purchase of outdoor table tennis tables agreed 

46 To work with key partners on the development of the 
Leighton-Linslade Green Wheel 

Endorsed by Council and is now being implemented where possible. £20k 
of funds made available for projects to be completed 

47 To assess the likely future demand for allotments Update to committee March 2022 

48 To consider possibilities for the restoration of the Henry 
Finch Memorial Fountain in Linslade Recreation 
Ground.  
 

Condition survey awaited.  

P
age 18



 

 Page 3 of 4 

 
Wider aspirations previosuly contained in the Partnership Project List may also be subject to periodic review by this Committee as resolved by 
Council at its meeting on 29 November 2021:  
 

A Skate park improvements.  
 

Linked to objective 45 in Five Year Plan. 
Funding for capital project identified in Five Year Financial Plan. 
Risk Register Action Plan 2022-23 identifies a need for a decision to be 
made by March 2023 due to deteriorating condition of skate park.  

B Restoration of Henry Finch Memorial Fountain.  See objective 48 above. 

C Continue to promote greening and wildflower planting.  Linked to objectives 7, 36, 39,46 above as well as core town council 
operations and management of its own green spaces 

D Additional cemetery land Linked to objective 32 above. Limited options for appropriate land for this 
purpose have been explored over recent years. No funding identified for 
land purchase. CBC support required 

E Additional allotment land Linked to objective 47 above. No funding identified for land purchase. 
Significant uplift in demand during Covid pandemic may not prove sustained 
in the longer term. 

 
MEETING DATES 2022-2023 

 

Meeting Date Regular Updates Fixed Deadline items Other anticipated discussion items 

6 June 2022 
 
 

 
Climate emergency update 
 
Ouzel Valley Park Steering Group 
Update 
 

 
Parson’s Close Recreation Ground – 
Inclusive play area project update 
 

 
Cemetery update including headstone safety 
survey (Risk Register Action Plan) 
 
Buildings 10 year maintenance plan update 
+ recommended actions arising from 2021 
accessibility assessment of facilities 
(Objective #29) 
 
Update on interpretation panels in the parks 
and open spaces (Objective #40) 

5 September 2022 
 
 
  

 
3-month budget monitoring 
 
Ouzel Valley Park Steering Group 
Update 
 
Climate emergency update 

 
Review priority projects for inclusion in 
2023-24 budget  

 
RoSPA annual play area inspection report  
 
Review of Green Flag Award 
recommendations  
 

P
age 19



 

 Page 4 of 4 

 Skate park condition and future (Risk 
Register Action Plan + Objective #45 & A) 
 
Drinking water fountains update 

5 December 2022 
 
 
 

 
6-month budget monitoring 
 
Climate emergency update 
 
Ouzel Valley Park Steering Group 
Update 
 
 

 
Review of draft budget 2023-24 
 
Pavilion hire review & fees + charges 
from 1 April 2023 
 
Pavilion hire review & fees + charges 
from 1 April 2023 
 

 
Cemetery Update including 2nd Mausoleum 
status (Objective #32 per council 
resolution Sept 2019) 
 
Allotments Update 
 
Update on interpretation panels in the parks 
and open spaces (Objective #40) 
 

6 March 2023 
 
 
  

 
9-month budget monitoring 
 
Ouzel Valley Park Steering Group 
Update  
 
Climate emergency update 
 

 
Consider draft committee work plan and 
priorities for 2023-24 
 
 

 
Review of the play area improvement and 
safer surfacing programme (Objective #30) 
 
Cemetery chapel and lych gate remedial 
works (Five Year financial plan) 
 

 

P
age 20



Page 21

Agenda Item 7



Page 22



Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 26



Committee ReportMonth No: 9

25/02/2022
09:35

Leighton-Linslade Town Council Page 1
Detailed Income & Expenditure by Budget Heading 31/12/2021

Actual Year To Date Current Annual Bud  Variance Annual Total Committed Expenditure Funds AvailableActual Current Mth % Spent

Grounds & Environmental
110 Depot

48.9%817 8174100 Repairs & Maintenance 0 783 1,600
41.1%766 7664131 Energy - Electricity 732 534 1,300
97.1%225 2254145 Rates 0 7,485 7,710
75.0%5,000 5,0004146 Rent 0 15,000 20,000
90.0%100 1004148 Management Fee 0 900 1,000
95.2%26 264149 Building Insurance 0 524 550

732 32,16025,225Depot :- Indirect Expenditure 6,935 0 6,935 78.4%
Net Expenditure (25,225) (32,160) (6,935)(732)

111 Pavilions
226.7%(21,798)1000 Rent Receivable 3,484 38,998 17,200

0.0%(83)1075 Refreshments-Income 0 83 0
3,484 17,20039,081Pavilions :- Income (21,881) 227.2%

20.9%7,907 7,9074000 Salaries 239 2,093 10,000
100.0%713 (2)4100 Repairs & Maintenance 585 12,537 13,250 715
66.1%1,763 1,7634130 Security 375 3,438 5,200
47.6%5,557 5,5574131 Energy - Electricity 220 5,043 10,600

114.9%(478) (478)4132 Energy - Gas 236 3,678 3,200
183.3%(1,458) (1,458)4135 Water 415 3,208 1,750
97.1%277 2774145 Rates 0 9,232 9,508
89.1%7,092 4,4744147 Service Charges 3,323 33,908 41,000 2,617
48.6%514 5144150 Cleaning Materials 0 486 1,000
76.1%479 4794300 Equipment - purchase 0 1,521 2,000

0.0%2,000 2,0004327 Publicity 0 0 2,000
32.1%2,037 2,0374426 Refuse 66 963 3,000

5,459 102,50876,107Pavilions :- Indirect Expenditure 26,401 3,332 23,069 77.5%
Net Income over Expenditure (37,026) (85,308) (48,282)(1,975)

120 Parsons Close & Bandstand
83.3%1,7501075 Refreshments-Income 0 8,750 10,500

0 10,5008,750Parsons Close & Bandstand :- Income 1,750 83.3%
79.3%1,756 1,7564100 Repairs & Maintenance 115 6,744 8,500

208.4%(2,818) (2,818)4131 Energy - Electricity 486 5,418 2,600
56.2%877 8774135 Water 0 1,123 2,000
42.1%8,691 8,6914570 The Beach/Splash and Play 0 6,309 15,000

601 28,10019,595Parsons Close & Bandstand :- Indirect Expenditure 8,505 0 8,505 69.7%
Net Income over Expenditure (10,845) (17,600) (6,755)(601)

Continued over pagePage 27

Agenda Item 8



Committee ReportMonth No: 9

25/02/2022
09:35

Leighton-Linslade Town Council Page 2
Detailed Income & Expenditure by Budget Heading 31/12/2021

Actual Year To Date Current Annual Bud  Variance Annual Total Committed Expenditure Funds AvailableActual Current Mth % Spent

132 Sports
81.0%1,5191120 Sports Income 1,345 6,481 8,000

1,345 8,0006,481Sports :- Income 1,519 81.0%
78.1%1,786 1,5364107 Sports Materials 1,958 5,214 7,000 250

0.0%500 5004109 Sports Equipment 0 0 500
1,958 7,5005,214Sports :- Indirect Expenditure 2,286 250 2,036 72.8%

Net Income over Expenditure 1,267 500 (767)(614)
200 Allotments

118.9%(568)1130 Allotments Income 1,210 3,568 3,000
1,210 3,0003,568Allotments :- Income (568) 118.9%

66.5%335 3354100 Repairs & Maintenance 0 665 1,000
32.0%680 6804110 Grounds Maintenance 0 320 1,000
52.2%239 2394135 Water 29 261 500

29 2,5001,246Allotments :- Indirect Expenditure 1,254 0 1,254 49.8%
Net Income over Expenditure 2,322 500 (1,822)1,181

211 Play Areas
43.1%3,616 3,6164100 Repairs & Maintenance 0 2,734 6,350

5.6%4,722 4,7224102 Repairs & Maint - Skate Park 0 278 5,000
53.7%1,390 1,3904303 Equipment - inspection 0 1,610 3,000

0 14,3504,622Play Areas :- Indirect Expenditure 9,728 0 9,728 32.2%
Net Expenditure (4,622) (14,350) (9,728)0

220 Leighton-Linslade in Bloom
0.0%(459)1420 Leighton-Linslade in Bloom Inc 0 459 0

0 0459Leighton-Linslade in Bloom :- Income (459)
34.4%3,280 3,2804413 Leighton-Linslade in Bloom 79 1,720 5,000

79 5,0001,720Leighton-Linslade in Bloom :- Indirect Expenditure 3,280 0 3,280 34.4%
Net Income over Expenditure (1,261) (5,000) (3,739)(79)

230 Grounds and Environmental Serv
0.0%1501000 Rent Receivable 0 0 150
0.0%(1,000)1151 Grants Received 0 1,000 0
0.0%(94,866)1152 Section 106 Receipts 0 94,866 0

Continued over pagePage 28



Committee ReportMonth No: 9

25/02/2022
09:35

Leighton-Linslade Town Council Page 3
Detailed Income & Expenditure by Budget Heading 31/12/2021

Actual Year To Date Current Annual Bud  Variance Annual Total Committed Expenditure Funds AvailableActual Current Mth % Spent

0.0%(2,777)1700 Miscellaneous Income 3 2,777 0
3 15098,643Grounds and Environmental Serv :- Income (98,493) 65761.9

64.5%143,135 143,1354000 Salaries 29,095 260,365 403,500
29.3%3,887 3,8874005 Staff Training 438 1,613 5,500

0.0%50 504006 Staff Expenses/Allowances 0 0 50
15.7%1,349 1,3494008 Staff Travel 139 251 1,600
22.5%2,842 2,7924009 Protective Clothing/Uniform 0 758 3,600 50
80.9%13,123 10,4634110 Grounds Maintenance 1,775 41,552 54,675 2,660
60.8%4,564 3,9174113 Countryside/Conservation Mgnt 0 5,436 10,000 647

8.1%460 4604135 Water 5 41 500
28.9%533 5334150 Cleaning Materials 0 217 750

0.0%(94,865) (94,865)4180 Section 106 expenditure 0 94,865 0
102.0%(434) (434)4200 Vehicle Running Costs 1,014 21,834 21,400
65.2%3,129 3,1294202 Repair & Maint - Machinery 0 5,871 9,000
78.4%1,676 1,6764233 Machinery Servicing 687 6,074 7,750

0.0%800 8004301 Equipment - maintenance 0 0 800
76.0%609 6004305 Small Tools and spares 0 1,891 2,500 9

100.0%0 04411 Hanging Baskets/Planters 1,281 8,500 8,500
41.6%3,211 3,2114414 Plants 2,276 2,289 5,500
68.9%3,266 3,2664415 Tree Surgery/Planting 1,720 7,234 10,500
90.6%2,095 1,8874426 Refuse 1,760 17,905 20,000 208
31.3%10,453 10,2994503 Benches and Bins 0 4,547 15,000 154

7.0%2,790 2,7904507 Signage 0 210 3,000
0.0%11,000 11,0004750 Vehicle & Plant Renewal Fund 0 0 11,000
0.0%1,000 1,0004919 Notice Boards 0 0 1,000

40,188 596,125481,452Grounds and Environmental Serv :- Indirect Expenditure 114,673 3,728 110,945 81.4%

Net Income over Expenditure (382,809) (595,975) (213,166)(40,185)
401 Cemetery

79.6%14,2581100 Cemetery Income 4,428 55,742 70,000
73.0%4,8561101 Cemetery Income-Memorials 769 13,144 18,000

5,196 88,00068,886Cemetery :- Income 19,114 78.3%
73.8%20,860 20,8604000 Salaries 6,508 58,640 79,500
94.8%541 2614100 Repairs & Maintenance 379 4,459 5,000 280

129.6%(296) (296)4131 Energy - Electricity 0 1,296 1,000
28.8%178 1784135 Water 8 72 250
97.1%147 1474145 Rates 0 4,853 5,000

0.0%1,000 1,0004300 Equipment - purchase 0 0 1,000

Continued over pagePage 29



Committee ReportMonth No: 9

25/02/2022
09:35

Leighton-Linslade Town Council Page 4
Detailed Income & Expenditure by Budget Heading 31/12/2021

Actual Year To Date Current Annual Bud  Variance Annual Total Committed Expenditure Funds AvailableActual Current Mth % Spent

0.0%(575) (575)4306 Memorial Plaques 0 575 0
59.7%2,015 2,0154426 Refuse 210 2,985 5,000

7,105 96,75072,879Cemetery :- Indirect Expenditure 23,871 280 23,591 75.6%
Net Income over Expenditure (3,993) (8,750) (4,757)(1,909)

402 Mausoleum
0.0%(4,900)1106 Mausoleum Income 0 4,900 0

0 04,900Mausoleum :- Income (4,900)
0.0%(989) (989)4308 Mausoleum 0 989 0

0 0989Mausoleum :- Indirect Expenditure (989) 0 (989)
Net Income over Expenditure 3,911 0 (3,911)0

403 Reserved Graves
0.0%(3,000)1102 Cemetery Income-Reservations 0 3,000 0

0 03,000Reserved Graves :- Income (3,000)
Net Income 3,000 0 (3,000)0

56,152 689,048 884,993
(106,918)11,237 233,768 126,850

195,945
(44,915) (455,280)

Grounds & Environmental :- Income

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve
Expenditure 7,591 188,354

184.3%
78.7%

689,048 884,993
(106,918)233,768 126,850

195,945
(44,915) (455,280) (758,143) (302,863)

Grand Totals:- Income

Net Income over Expenditure
Expenditure 7,591 188,35456,152

11,237 184.3%
78.7%

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve (44,915) (455,280)

Page 30



Leighton-Linslade Ouzel Valley Park 
Steering Group 
 
9 December 2021 at 10:30 am 
 
 

 
1. Introduction and Apologies 

 
Present:   Cllr Tony Morris (LLTC), Cllr Victoria Harvey (LLTC/CBC), Cllr Clive 
Palmer (LLTC), Cllr Steve Owen (remotely LLTC), Pauline Hey (Local Access 
Forum), Jon Balaam (remotely Greensand Trust), Howard Hughes (remotely 
CBC), Ian Haynes (LLTC), Mellony Jahn (LLTC), Clive Beckett (remotely Local 
Access Forum), Peter Bate and Rosalind Bacon (remotely Sustrans), 
Susannah Miller and Spencer Green (remotely Canals & Rivers Trust, Steve 
Lakin (CBC joined meeting remotely at 11.25 am). 

 
Apologies: Councillor Versallion 

 
2. Approval of Minutes of 2 September 2021 
 

The notes of the previous meetings were agreed as a true and accurate record 
of the meeting. 
 

3. Matters Arising 
 

All matters arising would be picked up later in the agenda. 
 

4. Review of action list 
 
See attached updated action list with the latest comments in brown. 
 

5. Leighton Buzzard Towpath Improvement Project 
 

Susannah Miller and Spencer Green from the Canal & River Trust and Rosalind 
Bacon attended the meeting to give an update on the towpath improvement 
project.  This project would improve the quality of the towpath allowing all year-
round accessibility with better surfacing in a traffic free environment.  It was 
hoped that this work would start in early summer with sections of the towpath 
being closed and diversions where needed.   A community information event 
would be held in February/March to inform the public of the improvements and 
timescales of the project 
 
A question was raised regarding whether this would cause problems at the 
Canal Festival at the end of July.  It was hoped that the contractors could look 
at this and complete or reschedule works in this area to limit impact on the 
Canal Festival. 
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 9



Members agreed this was a welcome project and hoped it would improve and 
enable greater use of the towpath by all groups.  Contact would be made with 
disability groups over the next few months to ensure their preferences were 
taken into account.  Councillor Harvey agreed to provide contacts for local 
groups for this purpose. 
 
A suggestion was made regarding the use of information panels along the canal 
whilst this work was being carried out which would point out areas of historical 
interest to the community.  Susannah Miller agreed to have a conversation with 
Phil Emery, Heritage Adviser regarding the placement of information panels at 
the appropriate locations. 
 
Thanks were given to all for an informative presentation and members looked 
forward to the improvements and a more accessible towpath. 
 

6. Information updates 
 
CBC 
 
Howard Hughes confirmed 3 wildflower areas had been planted at Riverside 
Walk and works to trees carried out to make them more manageable.   Litter 
clearance had taken place in August with another planned for December and 
LLTC planned clearance in the New Year.   
 
Clipstone Brook had trees felled which would be replaced and litter clearance 
in November. 
 
Steve Lakin joined the meeting at 11.25 am.  The southern Leighton Buzzard 
bus link/footway had been held up for legal reasons.  The designs for South 
Street to Hockliffe Street adjacent to Clipstone Brook were in process of being 
determined and the designs for a footway on Grovebury Road near the 
industrial development would be commissioned in the near future. 
 
It was confirmed that designs for the new visitor car park at Southern Meadows 
were still being reviewed and when a decision had been finalised a planning 
application would be submitted. 
 
A meeting was held with Buzz Cycles re the Eastern development                      
and progress depended on negotiations with landowners concerned. 
 
A question was raised regarding access to the towpath at the Leighton Road 
Canal Bridge.  CBC Plans and funding were already in place for this and would 
be available to review.  To be added to the Action List for Steve Lakin. 
 
A request was made by Councillor Harvey regarding the Woodman Close Link 
as to whether the designs could be shared with Lyndsey Bignall for the cycle 
path.  Steve Lakin agreed to copy Lyndsey in. 

 
 
 

Page 32



LLTC 
 
An itree survey would be taking place and members agreed this would be 
helpful to link to all groups and note what had been achieved and what was 
planned.   Groups would need to specify what they wanted included in the tree 
survey and then a conversation could take place to begin this process. 
 
Jon Balaam suggested consistent monitoring of trees would be helpful and 
training for volunteers could help to sustain any improvements made.  
 
GST 
 
The project to improve surfacing of Firs Path had now been completed and 
had been well received by members of the public.   
 
The draft designs for the Greensand Ridge walk gateway at the bottom of the 
High Street should be received shortly and the signs for the Ouzel Valley 
Meander were nearly completed.   
 
The mapping for the Green Wheel masterplan had been looked at and work 
was still needed before it could be signed off and endorsed by Central 
Bedfordshire Council.  This document would assist with planning applications 
discussions and obtaining funding.   
 
Members were informed that a training programme would be launched to 
provide training for river wardens to monitor trees and habitats around rivers.  
This could help identify issues and problems before they became more 
serious. 
 
Also methods on how to manage surface water flooding had been discussed 
at a workshop with Anglian Water and Central Bedfordshire Council. 
 

7. River Ouzel – sewerage and over extraction 
 

Members were informed that this was a national issue and water companies 
were looking into the effects.  Anglian Water were leading the way in these 
discussions as the biodiversity along the river had reduced as the water 
quality had changed.  It was agreed collective working was the way forward 
and public awareness needed to be raised to emphasise what happens to 
water when it goes into the drain and what pollution results.  Jon Balaam 
informed the committee that any sampling of the water was only a snapshot of 
the quality and a more detailed survey by the Environment Agency would give 
more informed results.  More active monitoring was needed and funding 
needed to provide this training to take place. 
 
A suggestion was made to use the Canal Festival as a platform to provide 
information to the public on pollution in rivers. 

 
 
 

Page 33



8. Leighton Buzzcycles Cycling Strategy  
 

Members agreed the Cycling Strategy should be discussed at the next meeting 
and moved up the agenda so more discussion could be had on this topic. 
 
A suggestion was made to have a meeting which involved more of the 
Buzzcycles Committee to explore the topic in more detail prior to the next Ouzel 
Valley Steering Group Meeting.    Peter Bate confirmed he would get back to 
the Chair once he had spoken to his other committee members. 
 

9. Any other business 
 

Howard Hughes confirmed he was working with Assets to confirm ownership of 
parts of the river which at present were unknown. 
 
A request was made to add to the membership of the Steering Group by 
including members of South Bedfordshire Friends of the Earth  -  Gill King, Liz 
Hooper and Ruth Mundy. 
 
Also agendas and minutes should be sent to the Canal and River Trust and 
Sustrans. 
 

10. Date of next meeting 
 

 
Wednesday 2 March at 10.30 am, 
 
Meeting ended 12.13 pm. 
 

Page 34



Leighton-Linslade 
Partnership Committee 
 
 
 
 

 

Town Clerk: Mark Saccoccio, 01525 631920 
info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk    
www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council and  
Central Bedfordshire Council working in 
partnership  

 

      
COMMUNITY FORUM YOUTH SURVEY SEPTEMBER / OCTOBER 2021 

 
SURVEY RESULTS 

 
INTRODUCTION 
 
Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee requested the Community Forum 
representative lead the delivery of a youth survey to find out what services young 
people need in Leighton-Linslade.  
 
Progress on the work was interrupted by Covid-19 restrictions. Whilst a large-scale 
survey exercise was originally desirable, it was later agreed that rather than wait for the 
right time, it would be productive to undertake a smaller survey in recognition that young 
people would benefit from attention. It was accepted that information would be less 
detailed than originally planned.   
 
The Committee Forum representative, supported by officers, convened a steering group 
of seven comprising of: 
 

 Community Forum Chair 

 Central Bedfordshire Council (CBC) - Youth Services, and Community 
     Engagement    

 Leighton-Linslade Town Council (LLTC) - TACTIC, Cultural & Economic Services 

 Community Action Bedfordshire 

 Groundwork East. 
 

The steering group agreed to focus on the age range of 12 to 16 years and to ask 
questions about youth provision within the parish as defined below: 
 

 Open access equipment, spaces like parks and sports areas 

 Youth work delivered at no set venue, e.g., outreach, online services 

 Venue based youth provision, e.g., youth clubs, community groups, service 
 venues. 
 

It was agreed within the steering group that the survey should be kept short and with 
general questions.   
 
 
METHOD 
 
The survey took place over the period of September and October 2021 and was aimed 
at young people aged 12 – 16 years.  This was distributed to schools, local uniform 
groups, and various other young people’s services across Central Bedfordshire 
primarily online through Survey Monkey.  

Page 35

Agenda Item 13



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 2021 

 
  

 

 2 

   
In addition, an evening at a town centre location was arranged to enable a face-to-face 
presentation of  paper copies of the survey. Young people were given a free milkshake 
if they completed the survey. This attracted good attendance, 76 yet proved difficult to 
engage in probing discussion as steering group partner availability was limited.  
 
It was originally hoped that more face-to-face survey work could be undertaken, 
specifically with access to schools, then complemented with an online survey to extend 
the reach. Due to ongoing covid-protective practises, schools said they would promote 
the online survey rather than have staff visit the students.  This reduced the opportunity 
for discussion with young people and possibly reduced the response level. 
 
 
RESULTS  
 
In total 149 responses were received – 76 of which was from face-to-face interaction, 
the remainder online. 
 
All responses were anonymous.  
 
10 questions were asked, and the responses are provided in Appendices A and B.  
 
As part of the analysis, ‘Word Cloud’ has been used to create a visual representation of 
text data, typically used to depict keyword weighted by their frequency. 
 
147 responses were received with an LU7 postcode, and only 2 with an MK postcode.   
 
 
Question 1- What activities do you enjoy doing outside of home? 
The general comments were that hanging out with friends is how young people prefer to 
spend their time. 

 
Question 2 - Where do you go for these activities? 
A large percentage of responses demonstrated that the parks and within the town 
centre or High Street areas are preferred. 

Page 36



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 2021 

 
  

 

 3 

 

 

Question 3 - What activities do you enjoy doing indoors? 
 
Arts and sports came out top in this question with dance and drama also being close 
behind in their preferences. Individual responses are shown in the word cloud below. 
 

  

Page 37



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 2021 

 
  

 

 4 

 
 

   

  

 

 
Question 4 - How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with the young people’s 
provision in the town (e.g. Parks, Clubs, Services for young people) 
 
 

   

  

Page 38



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 2021 

 
  

 

 5 

Question 5 - Are there any other leisure activities that you would like to see 
provided in the town? 
 
Responses show that sports activities including bowling came out the strongest with 
dance and gaming also featuring.  The word cloud below demonstrates the 
representation of data responses received. 

 
 

 

Question 6 - What new or different services do you feel would make a difference to 
young people? 
 
Again, demonstrated by Word Cloud the additional activities young people would like to 
see within the town are gaming and mental health support. Responses such as someone 
to talk to feature on several occasions within the responses.  

   

   

   

Page 39



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 2021 

 
  

 

 6 

 

 

Question 7 - Would you prefer activities to Be…..? (Venue based or 
outreach/moving around to other areas) 
 

 
The answers to this question were weighted towards venue-based activities with over 
50% choosing that option  

   

   

   

 

Question 8 - Which of the following have you experienced that have prevented you 
from attending groups before?  
  

 

This answer demonstrates the need for young people to have friends to attend activities 
with in terms of them feeling comfortable, as the responses ‘I didn’t know anyone else’ 
and ‘I didn’t feel comfortable’ were heavily weighted in the responses with young people 
also saying they were “too far away”’.  

   

   

   

Page 40



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 2021 

 
  

 

 7 

 
Question 9 - How often do you usually access online youth services? 
  

 

Just under 50%  of responses were that young people ‘Never’ visit online youth services, 
suggesting that there is a preference to physically attend activities and venues to access 
activity and support. 

  

 

 
Question 10  
 
GENDER 
 
It was pleasing to receive a good representation of responses from both male and 
female young people with just a minority preferring not to respond.  

  

   

   

   
 

 

Page 41



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 2021 

 
  

 

 8 

OTHER RESPONSES 

 

Question 3 – what activities do you enjoy doing indoors? (List of open-ended 

responses) 

1. Computer Games 

2. Watching Netflix 

3. Facetiming people 

4. X Box 

5. Gaming 

6. Chilling 

7. TV 

8. On phone 

9. Chilling in room 

10. Phone 

11. Streaming Shows 

12. Watching TV 

13. Watching things 

14. Watching movies 

15. Gaming 

16. Gaming 

17. Gaming and X Box 

18. Gaming and video games 

19. Football pitch 

20. Gaming 

21. X Box Gaming 

22. Sleeping 

23. Lying in bed 

24. Sleep 

25. Sleep 

26. On my phone 

27. Playing X Box 

28. Chilling 

29. Sleeping 

30. Games 

31. Gaming 

32. Netflix 

33. Gaming 

34. Gaming 

35. Playing pS4 

36. Watching TikTok 

37. Reading 

38. Watching Netflix 

39. DND and other programmes 

40. Drama 

Page 42



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 2021 

 
  

 

 9 

41. I dance on Tuesdays 

42. Meeting friends and watching movies 

43. Gaming 

44. Roller skating 

45. Music Dance to music 

 

 

Question 5 - Are there any other leisure activities you would like to see 

provided?  

(Open-ended responses) 

1. A good skatepark for skateboarding and long boarding and a place for BMX 

bikers and jump bikes 

2. Art activities 

3. Youth Clubs 

4. Stuff I can do 

5. Youth Café 

6. Arcades 

7. Gaming 

8. Don’t know 

9. Bowling 

10. No 

11. More clothes shops 

12. More clothes shops for young people, ice skating 

13. Roller blading Rin 

14. Free sports activities 

15. Not sure 

16. Athletics club 

17. Dance studio 

18. Dance studio  

19. No  

20. Leisure centres 

21. More sports 

22. Bowling 

23. More fairground stuff like May Day and fireworks 

24. Bowling 

25. Arcades 

26. Sports 

27. Weekend clubs’ art and dram groups 

28. More youth clubs 

29. More youth clubs 

30. More clothes shops 

31. More clothes shops 

32. Gaming place 

33. No 

Page 43



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 2021 

 
  

 

 10 

34. Football 

35. Boxing 

36. Ice rink 

37. Astro Pitch 

38. Astro Pitch 

39. Boxing Club 

40. Ice rink 

41. No 

42. Art centre 

43. Cinema, bowling alley, Gaming area 

44. Gaming stuff 

45. No 

46. Everything 

47. Anything Leighton’s rubbish 

48. Sport 

49. All rubbish 

50. Football basketball 

51. None 

52. Dance 

53. Gaming 

54. No 

55. No 

56. Football arena 

57. Basketball 

58. Football basketball 

59. No 

60. No 

61. No 

62. More free stuff 

63. Sports 

64. More things in parks 

65. Bowling 

66. Music 

67. Music 

68. Basketball 

69. Basketball football 

70. More activities for younger kids 

71. Football 

72. Should be more service for youth to stop negative activities taking place 

73. Sports Dome 

74. Football pitch 

75. Dance activities 

76. More dance activities 

77. Trampoline Park 

Page 44



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 2021 

 
  

 

 11 

78. Football 

79. No 

80. Good leisure centre 

81. Trampoline Park 

82. Trampoline Park 

83. More funding for parks and Tactic 

84. More football goals with nets, larger basketball areas 

85. Football 

86. More youth centres 

87. More advertised activities 

88. More activities 

89. Swimming 

90. Gymnastics, football, bowling 

91. No 

92. Access for young people more often. Places to eat 

93. Nope I don’t think so 

94. N/A 

95. Maybe reading clubs, or more free sports clubs or social clubs for teens 

96. Yale Sutu 

97. Nope 

98. No 

99. Youth centres and outdoor activities like festivals 

100.Festivals / fairs again101  Not for the moment as I never sign up for anything in 

town 

101 Nope 

102 Yes, I would like to see a netball team or more aerobics Bowling Alley, Proper 

cinema,  

103 None I can think of 

104 Drama 

105 Youth club open in evenings to meet friends 

106 No 

107 No 

108.Youth Centre 

109 Cinema, bowling, roller skating  

110 Bowling, cinema, trampoline park Badminton clubs for children of all ages 

111 Maybe a basketball court or something like that, or more sheltered areas for  

112 When it rains or there is bad weather 

113 More trails and walks that people can go on, that aren’t on roads etc. 

114 No 

115 Cinema, bowling alley VR arena 

116 No, I don’t think so 

117 I don’t think so 
118 Actual track 
119 Mini golf 

Page 45



Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee 2021 

 
  

 

 12 

120 Bowling 
121 Maybe some more shops 
122 Yes, indoor roller skating 
123 Running track in Mentmore Park, Cycle routes, paths, and free tennis courts 
124 Football 
125 Cooking Social club here we can hang out play board games and listen to 
music 
126 Learn things like cooking or making things 
127 No 

 
Questions asked: 
5. The group has drafted a short survey with questions designed to capture key themes.     

The questions have been reviewed by CBC’s Consultation Officer – see below:  
 

(i) What activities do you enjoy doing outside of home?   
e.g. Sports / Hanging out with friends / Other 
 

(ii) Where do you go for these activities?   
In town / High Street/ Parks Community Building/ Other 

 

(iii) What activities do you enjoy doing indoors?  
Sports/ Dance/ Arts / Other. 
 

(iv) How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with the young people’s provision in the 
town?- 
Very satisfied/satisfied/unsure/dissatisfied/very dissatisfied. 

 

(v) Are there any other leisure activities that you would like to see provided in the 
town?  

 

(vi) What new or different services do you feel would make a difference to young 
people? 

 

(vii) Would you prefer activities to be? 
Venue based or outreach/moving around to other areas. 

 
(viii) Which of the below have you experienced that have prevented you from 

attending groups before? 
They were too far away/I didn’t have a car/public transport couldn’t get me there/I 
didn’t know anyone else attending/it was too much money; I didn’t feel   
comfortable.  

 
(ix) How often do you usually access online youth services?  

Weekly/monthly/yearly/less often/never 
 

(x) About you:  
Gender -  Male / Female / Other                  Postcode -  

 

Page 46



THE WHITE HOUSE ROUNDABOUT 

The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom 

 

The Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom is a group of volunteers who try to improve areas of the green 

environment in the town for the benefit of residents and the town more generally.  We have two main aims: 

To maintain our two community gardens and to work with the Town Council to improve the general green 

environment focusing on the town’s entry for the RHS Anglia in Bloom competition and its judging route. 

The town has been awarded, before the pandemic, a low Gold Award for several years by the Anglia in Bloom 

judges. The group has tried to improve areas along the judging route with the guidance of Ian Haynes.  We 

helped the Town Council create and now care for the Drought Garden next to Mary Bassett Lower School, 

which is an excellent example of modification of planting to cope with our warming climate. After a period 

of long negotiation with Officers at Central Bedfordshire we were given permission to improve the two 

segments around the North Street Roundabout. These had become very neglected with many weeds and 

dead plants and obviously had had little maintenance.  We now maintain these areas. We are very grateful 

to the Town Council for providing the money for railings around the road side of the beds after Central 

Bedfordshire Council failed to see that safety was an issue.  People used to cross the road diagonally over 

the central circle of the roundabout regularly which was unsafe but they also trampled the newly added 

plants. We managed to talk to CBC and had the long thin bed removed which was on North Street as people 

were constantly walking across it. 

The White House Roundabout 

We would like you to focus now on the White House Roundabout.  This is at the start and finish of the Town’s 

Anglia in Bloom judging route and presents a particular problem. Over the years it has only been maintained 

once a year by Central Bedfordshire and much self set grass and many weeds have grown in the bare patches 

left when some plants died but also inbetween the existing vegetation. CBC’s once a year maintenance 

involved strimming and tidying the hedges at the back of the 5 segments and levelling anything that was 

growing to the height of the low growing shrubs. Regrowth of grass and weeds was rapid.  

The pictures below show one of the beds in July 2021 before and after the CBC’s once a year maintenence.  

Grass and weeds  very quickly regrew on the bare patches. 

         

 Page 47

Agenda Item 15



Several years ago, the Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom came to give a presentation at the Town Council 

regarding problem areas in the town which were poorly maintained by CBC. In 2021 all the CBC Councillors 

for Leighton Buzzard were contacted regarding our concerns about the poor standard of maintance of the 

White House Roundabout to try to help improve the situation.  One Councillor has tried with no apparent 

success to get some dialogue between Central Bedfordshire Council and the Town Council about our 

aspiration to have the five segments developed to create a tidier and more stunning display. No 

communication happened but suddenly, in January 2022, Central Bedfordshire’s contracted grounds team 

appeared and cleared one bed completely, laid landscape fabric with  bark chippings and replanted with 

more low growing euonymus shrubs ( first picture below), cleared small areas on three other beds (middle 

picture)  and replanted but left all the weeds and grass between the older plants and did nothing on the last 

bed (last picture below).  They returned three weeks later to finish one bed and planted up a few cleared 

areas still leaving all the grass and weeds in the the rest of the beds. 

 

Our problem – and that for the town – is that this roundabout is at the start and finish of our judging route 

and must leave a lasting impression on the judges especially as first impressions often colour a person’s 

overall view.  As we begin to plan for Anglia in Bloom this year, we are concerned that there is a chance that, 

in the future, the loss of points which this results in from the judges could drag us down below the Gold 

Standard.  

The roundabout is a major gateway to the town and at the moment gives the impression to residents and 

visitors that the town doesn’t care about its roadside spaces which is definitely not true.  The Group has 

contacted Central Bedfordshire itself about this issue most recently in 2021 but the problem remains 

ongoing.  We know Ian Haynes has ideas how the segments could be changed but conversations need to 

happen between the Central Bedfordshire Officers responsible for the maintenence and the Town Council.  

Central Bedfordshire has spent money on partly improving the beds but it has not created a better display 

and maintenance will remain a continuing issue.  One solution might be if the Town Council were able to 

take over the roundabout planting and green maintenance if a suitable agreement could be reached with 

Central Bedfordshire.  However, in any event, we would suggest that a dialogue needs to be set up between 

the two authorities with the improvement of the appearance of the White House Roundabout and its 

maintenance in mind.  We would request Town Councillors to agree that this should now urgently be 

pursued by the Town Council and invite your response.   

Page 48


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	5 APPROVED DECISIONS
	6 COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN
	draft Grounds & Env Services work plan 2022-23

	7 FACILITIES AND BOOKINGS
	Bookings hirer feedback

	8 NINE MONTH BUDGET MONITORING REPORT
	9 OUZEL VALLEY PARK STEERING GROUP UPDATE
	13 COMMUNITY FORUM YOUTH SURVEY
	15 THE WHITE HOUSE ROUNDABOUT

